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PIERRE DORIOIN, JR., AND

WILSON PRICE HUNT

1801_18 1 1

wesHrNcroN InvlNc says Pierre Dorion, Jr., the best known of the
Dorion family, was a "loose adventurer," a somewhat unsavory char-
acter; Coues says he "appears to have been a sulky brute,'; Bracken-
ridge called him a "worthless fellow"; and other contemporaries said
he was dark-browed, sullen, and quarrelsome, drank excessively, and
beat his wives. Doubtless. of course pierre the younger was not ex-
actiy responsible for his complexion, and Indian stoicism could have
been taken for sullenness. But it cannot be denied that he drank, quar-
reled, fought, and beat his wives. Every half-breed and many a white
man did the same. on the other hand, Dorion is credited with a devo-
tion to his farnilies not always found among Indian men.

Regardless of his personal traits, the younger pierre was acknowl-
edged as the best sioux interpreter on the Missouri and was in
constant demand.

No one knows where or when he was born, but h" *u, a Sioux
trader when Lewis and clark went up the river, uniike his father, his
life-span was short, violent, and tragic, Excepting his role in the
Lewis and clark and Big white excursions, he was attached to oniy
one historical venture in any notable sense, that of the disastrous
overland Astorians. The record of that expedition and the story of
young Fierre Dorion's aduit life are inseparable.

when John Jacob Astor entered the trans-Mississippi fur trade
with his dream of an empire at the mouth of the columbia, he thought
to guarantee its success by sending one expedition by sea and one

l ' i 1 ' ; s 1  l l t ' p 1 1 , t 1 .  . l t  i r t t i l  l t ' i i . t t t r t  [ ' t t t r  l l t t r t !  { f r ;

by I lnc l  (o  b r r i l c l  l r i s  l i l r t  1 r t r r l .  As l< ' r r r r .  ' [ ' l t c  t t t ; t r i l i t t te  i le t l t t ' l t t r t r ' t t l

uncler ( iaptair l  ' I ' ! rot 'n t tn l l tc ' l 'unquir t  tkrer l t t r l  r () t lccl ' l l  us l tcrc '

For thc clverlancl vtrllttttc, Aslor r'ltose, Wilsettt [ 'ricc I Ir.rttt ttl '

Trenton, New Jersey, it cultttrecl and suc:ccssfttl gcnllctttltn ol tlte:
Atlantic seaboard but onc completely igt'lorant of tltc lntli it lt tritr' lc,
There were other partners whom we shall ancountcr li 'oltl tittter tl

time, men who owned small amounts of shares arrd helcl cclually strtall
authority. Some were experienced Indian traders; othcrs wcl'c prilrrur'

i ly gentlemen for whom Astor had a predilection, pcrhaps in cttntrasl
with his own very humble beginnings.

From first to last, Hunt committed one blunder after anothcrr. F{cr

Wilson Price Hunt, leader of the tragic Overland Astorians. Missoutl  I l i t t tn' icnl

Societv. St. Louis.
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and ï)oltalcl McKctteic" I l irutrr:r Nor'1lr Wc,-;l ('(lnlpuny sûrv-irtrl rrncl
one of several traclers with the sarr)(: nilirlc, went to Montreal in July
of 1810 to recruit men and buy equiprnent. The North West Company
was already fighting a bitter battle with the Hudson's Bay Company
and did not welcome another competitor. It did everything it could
to hinder Hunt and McKenzie, and it effectively prevented all first-
class voyageurs from joining the Astor flag. The crew Hunt finally
collected was distinctly second-best.

However, he got his thirty- to forty-foot canoes loaded; assigned
a foreman to the bow, the oarsmen to the center, and the steersman
to the rear; and paddled to the Chapel of St. Anne, named for the
patron saint of the voyageurs. Here simple rituals prepared them for
the wilderness. The conclusion of the rites signaled a gigantic thirst,
and Hunt barely managed to get beyond Montreal.

At Mackinac he hoped to expand his crew to sixty men. It was the
last stop before entering the wilds, and the voyageurs made the most
of it. They always received a large portion of their wages in advance,
and these were immediately spent on gaudy clothes, women, and rum.
After the advance wages were gone, the boatmen ran charge ac-
counts at the local shops, knowing that custom compelled their cur-
rent employers to pay these bilis before they would be allowed to
leave town. Thus, the voyageurs and the shops colluded to perpetrate
a profitable swindle, and Hunt "bought" his employees a second time
at Mackinac.

Donald McKenzie and Ramsy Crooks, who joiued Hunt at
Mackinac, were familiar with the routine. Why they did not prepare
Hunt for the experience is unknown. Perhaps they tried. Hunt had
a habit of not listening.

In mid-August the Astorians left Mackinac and paddled for St.
Louis via Green Bay, the Fox and Wisconsin riveis, Prairie du Chien,
and the Mississippi.

At St. Louis Wilson Price Hunt ran head on into Manuel Lisa.'r,
Henry Marie Brackenridge, in his rare Views of Louisiana published
in 1817, three years before Lisa's death, says the Spaniard had gone
as far as the Big Horns, and Washington lrving credits him with
traveling to the very source of the Missouri. The point is unimportant

'i'About this time Joseph Miller, a well-educated Baltimore citizen, ioined
the Astorians.

[ t i r t t r  l l r t t t t ' t t .  J r  t t t t , i  l l  t ï . t t ' t t  I ' n ' i  l l t t t t t  l f , "

hcrl :  i ' l i r 'c l1t  to $tfcss t l ta l  I l r r t r t  uirs cl t t t : r i r t t ' .  i r i te.r  tourpr ' i i l iot t  wi lh ;r
r r l l r s lc t '  enr r rp lc tc ly  l ' l rn t i l i ; r r  rv i (h  t l l c  t r l t t t le f  rq tun i l . '

11 wits rnucl: too lale lo start l 'ur thc Pacifie clrlrirrg" thc present
seasoll. I-Iunt, hoping tct c:urtr cxpcnses, clccitlcrl lo lvirtttrr his rtrcn rrt
Nodaway, a few rniles above thc urodern St" "loscph, Missouri. wlr*rç:.
prices were lower and temptations fewer. 'I 'wo clays alter they nr"
rived there, the river froze over, and the rnen scluattcc{ clorvn to whilc
away the winter. Hunt went back to St" Louis ancl onlistecl l{ohcrt
McClellan, a former partner of Ramsy Crooks, and John llny frtrnr
the backwoods of Virginia.

Sometime during the winter it dawned on l{unt that he urigllt nccd
guides and interpreters. The delay was a serious blunclor. bec;rusc:
Manuel Lisa knew'the value of the interpreter-guides, ancl when llrrnt
at last made,overtures to Pierre Dorion, Jr., Lisa begarr a sories elf
maneuvers designed to prevent any such association.

Young Dorion loved three things in life: a good fight, wornen, irnrl
liquor. He had recently gone to Lisa's upriver store and purc;hascrl
several items on credit, including whiskey at $10 a quart-a fantas(ir:
markup even on the river. When Pierre sobered up, he refrised to plv
the bill on the ground of an overcharge. Lisa did not press the rnitttcr
at the time, but when Hunt tried to hire the interpreter, Lisa lct it

!e known that he intended to have Dorion jailed f,çr nonpayment o,'
debts. An interpreter in jail was of no value to Hunt.

But Pierre Dorion, Jr., was also versed in the tricks of the river.
For two weeks he played Lisa against Hunt, until the latter agreecl to
give him wages of $300 per year, $200 to be paid in advance, lrncl
allow him to be accompanied by his pregnant wife, Marie, and two
small sons't-all expenses to be paid by Hunt, of course.

To add to Hunt's troubles, five men from his Nodaway camp driftecl
into St. Louis and spread a tale of mistreatment intended to inducc
others to desert. The men were in fact on a diet of "lied corn hominy
for breakfast, a slice of fat pork and biscuit for dinner, and a pot of
mush with a pound of tallow in it, for supper."2 This diet and the,
boredom were the real causes of discontent.

'r'Pierre had earlier married a Yankton girl, Holy Rainbow, but had left hcl
and was now attached to Marie, an Iowa gir l .  Marie had a long, wi ld l i fe ol '
her own, encompassing three "husbands" and half a continent. The facts of
her l i fe r ival the f ict ions of Sacajawea's, but Marie never acquired a good prcss
a sent.
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About thc only bLight spot for Flunt was the attachment to his
command, as paying guests, of John Bradbury of the Linnaean
Society of Liverpool, and rhomas Nuttall, the English-American
botanist, These gentlemen, out to see the West, were in no way under
Hunt's orders except that they would not be permitted to break the
rules of safe travel.

When Hunt left St. Louis on March 12,I811, Bradbury and Nuttall
stayed in town an extra night to await the mails and have a last bit
of fun. During the evening they heard that Lisa had a warrant for
young Dorion's arrest which he planned to serve upriver at st. charles
after it was too late for Hunt to obtain another Sioux interpreter.
Bradbury and Nuttall naturally threw their sympathies to Hunt, and
at two o'clock in the morning rushed overland to warn him of Lisa's
plans.

When Pierre learned of the trick, he quickly outlined a ruse to
circumvent the arrest. He and his family would leave the boats at
once, circle inland, bypass St. Charles, and rejoin Hunt farther upriver.
Hunt did not trust Dorion, and said he never expected to see him
again if once he left the boats. But since there was little real choice,
he agreed, and shortly got an agreeable surprise when pierre did
exactly as he had promised,

Except that when he rejoined the Astorians he was alone. Marie
had absconded in a huff with the children because Pierre had lost his
temper and given her a sound spanking. ,

Normally this discipline was accepted by Indian women with total
equanimity; in fact, its omission was sometimes considered proof that
their husbands placed no value upon them. But Marie was different.
Any one of the three men with whom she is known to have lived
could attest to that-but this is the story of Pierre Dorion, Jr., not
Marie.

Pierre was disturbed at Marie's defection-tJot because she was
gone, for wives were easy to come by, but because she had his personal
goods with her and he was bankrupt. Hunt understood and sent one
of his men after Marie, but it did no good. Pierre slept alone that
night. Just before daybreak a repentant Marie and two big-eyed little
boys showed up of their own accord, and Hunt took them aboard.
Pierre forgave, if he did not forget, and the Overland Astorians went
on to Charette, sixty-eight miles above St. Louis.

From there they moved to Fort Osage for three days, April 8-11,

Itlûtt l)u'lrttt,It ',, tttttl ùlil,tott ltrlu' I ' lttttl .l(17

181J, I ' lerc l lunt lcnlnccl  thut thc Sioux wclc ugit in in un ungry nlxrt l ,
The Osages cntutâinc(l llunt, Ilrnclbuly, nnd Nuttoll witlt tt scnlp

dance. This ceremony, and presunrably a ncw malo facc, so ilnpl'cssc(l
Marie she decided to leave Pierre and movc in with thc Osngcs, Dorion
knocked that nonsense out of her in short order, and flont tltctt tttt
she was a dutiful if not a particularly loving wilb. She sulkcd u fow
days, but Pierre knew his rights!

In mid-April Hunt picked up his Nodaway section. Thc uuitcd
party of sixty voyageurs, hunters, interpreters, paying gtrests, fivt:
partners, and the clerk, John Reed, headed upriver, kecping a shnrp
lookout for rattlesnakes, which were just emerging from their wintcr
quarters and were in, no humor to be trifled with.

One night eleven naked Sioux whooped into camp ancl sct up tt
great hullabaloo. After their capture Dorion explained that the n'wut'-

riors" had recently been defeated, and as redemption they must clis<lnrd
all their clothes to the "medicine" 1' and perform some recklcss (lecd

tç regain their self-respect. The present night foray had not bcen
notably successful. Hunt's men wished to shoot the braves ancl gct
back to sleep, but he vetoed that form of frontier justice.

This little episode pointed up the angry temper of the Sioux rtttcl
Crooks, and McClellan blamed the trouble on Lisa, contending thttt
tft had set the Sioux against all other traders in order to ease his own
passage through their lands. McClellan.was so sure of this that he
had repeatedly said he would shoot Lisa on sight. The rumors of
Sioux hostility and McClellan's attitude made the voyageurs nervous
and unhappy. As these simple men saw it, the Indians might attack,
at any moment; McClellan might start a trade war; and Nuttall ancl
Bradbury were silly young men who asked Dorion foolish questions,
and spent long hours pulling up weeds along the river and oh-ing and
ah-ing over them. In fact, the men suspected they were attached to nn
unlucky expedition,

These feelings were not lessened when Bradbury cut across lancl
one day and was captured by a small band of Sioux, who seenrc(l
uncertain what to do with him after they had him. He seized upon
their hesitancy and saved his life by entertaining them with thc
"medicine" of his pocket compass and microscope until the boats

':' "Medicine" has no exâct synonym in our present-day vocabulary. It was fln
Indian-frontier term covering ritualistic mores, superstit ions, native medicino,
and anything the Indians could not understanc.

fl
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came up. But it had been â tight sitr.ration. lfhc Sioux had soon lost
r interest, and he had had nothing else to divert their attention.

While most of these events were occurring, Manuel Lisa was still
in St. Louis. Several details had delayed him. For almost two years
Sacajawea and another Indian wife and two children belonging to
Toussaint Charbonneau had been living in St. Louis more or less
as guests of William Clark. But Sacajawea was unwell and wished to
return to the upper river, and Charbonneau had long ago tired of the
inhibitions of civilization and wished to go north with Lisa. * 3

Also, Henry Marie Brackenridge, whose writings were one day to
be valuable sources of early Missouri River lore, wanted to see the
West as a paying guest aboard Lisa's boat. Such details took time to
arrange, and it was the first week in April before Lisa could leave St.
Charles.

In view of this delay and Indian unrest, Lisa sent Charbonneau to
Hunt asking him to wait so that the two parties could travel the
dangerous territory together. But Hunt, influenced by Crooks and
McClellan, thought Lisa could not be trusted, and the New Jerseyite
played a very questionable hand. He replied to Lisa in terms so
ambiguous that both Charbonneau and Lisa believed the Astorians
had agreed to wait.

When Lisa found the.contrary to be true, he initiated the longest
race ever run in North America. And it was no gentlemen's sporting
event. It was in deadly earnest, and the loser might we{l forfeit his
fortune and his life, to either the Indians or his opponent. Lisa was
furious at his rival's perfidy, and Hunt was so frightened that he was
not entirely responsible for his actions.

The race lasted two months over a course of 1,200 miles. Day
after day Hunt pushed his voyageurs in a frenzy to escape the in-
dignant Spaniard. Lisa, in a single keelboat manped by twenty-five
superb oarsmen, begged, threatened, and taunted- his crew to catch
the double-talking Astorians.

During the course of the race, the regular routines were maintained
of necessity. Hunters brought in the daily meat; clothes wore out and
were mended or replaced; and around evening fires made of green

* We have already called attention to the uncertainty regarding
Charbonneau's wives was involved in this iourney. See Chapter 16.

l ' leru' l)orlttn, lt ' , , ttttt l  Wll,çtut ltt l tt '  Lltttt l  . lâq

wood wllosc oxecss ol'smokc hclpccl contlol thc nxlsqtritr)es, thc nurrt
laughecl at libsld tslcs or conrphinc(l of thc foocl or tlto work,

At onc point thrcc whitc mcn carnc paclclling clownsttc{,1m, ,li(l
Robinson, John Hoback, and Jacob Reznor, fornrcr cmployccs oll tho
Missouri Fur Company who were rcturning alrnost rcluot{ll ltly to
civi.lization. It took little persuasion for I-Iunt to inclucc thcm ttr
jo in him.

They advised him to leave the Lewis and Clark trail, probably tltu
least practical of all the transmountain routes,'r' ât the Aliktr:rr
villages, strike overland, and cross the Continental Divide fnlthet
south. Hunt accepted their advice.

While these argur4pnts were being considered, minor clutics wcrc
keeping Dorion busy. Two Sioux spies called from shore ancl wol:ncd
Hunt not to attempt to cross their land, and a war party rodo brazcnly
along the high river bank. Hunt's rifles were about to open fir:e wltcrt
Dorion's sharper eye saw the buffalo robe signals which indicatecl u
desire to talk rather than fight. At the parley which followed, Pierlo
is' said to have interpreted the speeches simultaneously with thcil
utterance. If this is true, he was a notch above most interpreters, who
gave the substance of a speech either at the end or in long segmcnts,

A few days after this council, Lisa hove in sight.
There were to be stirring hours ahead. The quarrel between Crooks,

McClellan, and Hunt on the one hand and Lisa on the other, with
Pierre Dorion, Jr., the pawn between,'had smoldered for sevetnl
months. Lisa intended to collect for the whiskey Pierre had bought
from him-but Dorion had won the first round by evading arrest nt
St. Charles.

Hunt now believed himself in double jeopardy. He honestly thought
Lisa was dangerous in his own right; and if McClellan really shot Liso
as he had threatened, the act would constitute murder. even on tho
Missouri. Hunt wanted none of it. He was having trouble enough,

'r This was contemporary opinion, but it is not commonly expressed today,
"The route taken by Lewis and Clark across the mountains was perhaps, thc
worst that could have been selected," said Brackenridge; and Major Andrew
Henry of the Missouri Fur Company, referring to the better passes over thc
mountains, said he thought "loaded horses, or even waggons, might in thc
present itate, go in the course of five or six days, from a navigable point on
the Columbia, more easy than between those on the heads of the Ohio." (Seo
Henry Marie Brackenridge, Views ol Louisiana, Baltimore, Schaeffer & Mauncl,
1817 ,  pp ,  r63 -164 . )
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He was to have rnuch more.
At the moment, however, everyone pretended amity. Lisa covertly

looked for Dorion, and Hunt covertly watched McClellan. Lisa did
not intend for his difference with Dorion (largely wounded pride, since
the accusation of overcharge was true and Lisa knew it) to eclipse
the insult of Hunt's leaving without him at the beginning of their
respective journeys. But for now, he would keep up pretenses and wait.

Meânwhile, Lisa and Hunt were moving upriver with a buffer zone
of safe distance between them. But a torrential rain following the
Fourth of July upset the arrangement and compelled the two parties
to camp not over a hundred yards apart.

Lisa was much too wily to start open war. Instead he invited Dorion
for a drink. Whiskey was one of the pleasures the half-breed could
not refuse, and Lisa kept the tin cup full.:*

Bradbury said:

Mr. Lisa invited Dorion . . . to his boat, where he had given him some
whiskey, and took the opportunity of avowing his intention to take him
away from Mr. Hunt.

Dorion had often spoken . . . of his debt lfor whiskey in] great indigna-
tion at the manner it had been incurred, aileging that he had been charged
the most exorbitant prices for articles at Fort Mandan, and in particular
ten dollars per quart for whiskey,a

To take Dorion from Hunt would even two scores:-it would put
Dorion in Lisa's power again and deprive Hunt of the best Sioux in-
terpreter on the river. But for once, Lisa underestimated his man's
capacity. Pierre drank a goodly round of river fire but refused to
betray Hunt. Lisa threatened to prosecute, and the half-breed count-
ered by reporting the whole thing to Hunt. Naturally, this convinced
Hunt of Lisa's treacherous nature.

Just as Pierre finished his story, Lisa walkeT into Hunt's camp
and asked to borrow a towline. A grand free-for-all flared up. Dorion,
fired with whiskey and an innate love for a fight. charged from his

':' Liquor was measured on the river and throughout the mountains by the
tin cup. Unscrupulous traders often handled it in such fashion that a finger or
thumb took up a profitable portion of the cup.

Itltttv l)ut'ltttt, lt ',, uttrl Wll*n ltrlrr llrtttl ' l7l

tent ancl str:uck Lisn "scvcrul tirtres, (ln(l scizs([ tt l)tl ir <lf l l istols ltt:-
longing to l:ftrnt," said llrackcnriclgc.0

Lisa shoutcd, "O mon Dieu! où est mon coute(ta?"0 (hc l)fcfcll:c(l
a sharp knife to a pistol) and rushed to his boat to gct his wcnpons,

Bràckenridge stepped in and tried to calm Lisa, but sooing it wtttl
futile, accompanied him back to Hunt's camp. Dorion "took ltis
ground the party ranging themselves in order to witness the ovollt,"

said Bradbury. T

This was the chance McClellan and Crooks had waitecl for. Ït gttvtl

them a chance to kill Lisa in an open fight and avoicl the chtu'go

of murder. Hunt perhaps sensed this, for "he did not seem to intorost

himself much in the.âffair," said Brackenridge.s
At this stage of affairs, the three paying guests decided to intcrvcno,

Brackenridge wrote later, "I had several times to stand betwccn hil)l

ll-isa] and the interpreter, who had a pistol in each hand. I am sot:ly

to say, that there was but little disposition on the part of Mr. Flttnt to
pfevent the mischief. . ."e

However, while Brackenridge was thus occupied, Hunt did dissuacle

McClellan from shooting Lisa, only to have his good work backl'it'e:

at that very moment Lisa made a derogatory reference to Hunt, who

immediately reversed his ground and challenged Lisa to a duel.

" 
"H" told Lisa the matter should be settled by themselves ancl dc'

sired him ll-isa] to fetch his pistols."
Lisa started for them, and "I followed to his boat, accompaniccl by

Mr. Brackenridge, and we with difficulty prevented a meeting, whiclt

in the present temper of the parties, would certainly have been tt

bloody one," said Bradbury.10
Time played to the advantage of the peacemakers. Brackenriclgc

talked Lisa into a calmer attitude, Hunt did not press the mattcr,

Dorion partially sobered up, and McClellan stalked off to sulk ttnd

wait for another day. Bloodshed had been avoided but Lisa and Hunt

refused to speak to each other.
The intermediaries believed they now held certain advantages whiclt

they hoped to maintain: interwhite war had been prevented and thc

Indians were less likely to attack; Dorion would probably not st{trt

a fight unless he got drunk again; and Hunt, they were confident,

would'not force the issue.
At the same time, they had to consider negative items' The Mc-
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Clellan-Crooks conrbination was potcntially rrost clangerous, Mc-
Clellan was activated by a blind, sustained hate, and Crooks was all
too likely to back an)' move Mcclellan, made. Brackenridge considered
Dorion a "worthless fellow," and was inclined to sympathize with Lisa
on the whiskey bill. And not only were Bradbury and Nuttall un-
familiar with the ways of the river, but Nuttall remained aloof from
the whole thing as much as possible, thus placing most of the burden
for peace on Brackenridge and Bradbury.

28

LISA A|,{D HUNT REACH

AN AGREEM]NNT

1811

UNosn an uneasy truce, the two commands worked slowly up thc
current along opposite sides of the Missouri, always in sight lest onc
shor',ld reach the Arikaras first and open trade to the disadvantagc of
the other. Hunt was slightly ahead and Lisa granted this salve to his
rival's pride, for the Spaniard's superior crew could have passed Hunt
any time they were ordered to do so.

During the second week in July, both parties camped six uriles
beloy the Arikara towns. The question of who first should enter the
villages could no longer be postponed.

Who was to have the advantage? Who was to decide?
Each possessed certain s{rengths. Lisa had the experience and thc

better crew. Hunt had Pierre Dorion, Jr. And we may be sure Lisa
appreciated that fact even if Hunt did not, Perhaps that is why the
Spaniard accepted with such alacrity when Brackenridge offered to
approach Hunt seeking sonre compromise.

Before any conclusion was reached, however, two Arikara chiefs
arrived with their own interpreter': ' and told Dorion bluntly that the
Rees would permit no further progress unless Hunt established a

' r '  The identi ty of this interpreter is clouded. He is referred to as a Frenchman
who had l ived among the Indians twenty years. Several had done that-René
Jusseaume, Toussaint Charbonneau, the Dorions, Joseph Garreau, and Antoine
Tabeau, to name a few. Since Charbonneau and one or more of his wives
were with Lisa, and Dorion, Jr.,  was with Hunt, i t  is doubtful i f  the interpretcr
mentioned could have been either of thenr.
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permanent post among thern. Dorion countorcd that such a ruling
should not apply to Hunt because he was going to the big water to
the west and would leave the river at this point anyway. The Indians
were satisfied, and Brackenridge then persuaded Lisa and Hunt to
enter the towns separately but simultaneously-a solution which pre-
vented the Indians from suspecting ill will among the whites.

A council followed in which Lisa dropped a most magnanimous
remark, often studiously forgotten by Hunt's partisans. Lisa agreed to
trade if Ree prices were not too high, and then pointedly referred to
Hunt as his friend, saying that in case of any trouble he would be
arrayed with Hunt.'

While Pierre Dorion, Jr., was interpreting, his eyes wandered
searchingly around the council fire. He was uneasy, and whispered to
Bradbury, who sat next to him, that many of the head men of the
Rees were not present, so that their followers would therefore not be
bound by the agreements of the council. Hunt, of course, knew noth-
ing of this, but Lisa did, and it may have been these potentials for
trouble that induced him to ally himself with Hunt. However, before
the absences came up for discussion, the missing chiefs drifted in one
by one and the tensions relaxed.

The Arikaras consented to sell horses at $10 a head in goods at
"first cost," a price somewhere between our cost of manufacture and
wholesale. This settled. Lisa then offered to trade his horses for Hunt's
riverboats, and Crooks, Dorion, and Bradbury went after the horses.

Bradbury was riding a very poor horse which constantly fell behind,
and "Dorion . . . and others . . . occasionaly rode after me, to beat
him forward"2-a sentence that adds another brushstroke to the
portrait of Pierre Dorion, Jr. To let Bradbury, whom he liked, ride a
worn-out horse which must be beaten to keep it moving amused him.
His fun was as simple-and as cruel-as his loves and hates.

René Jusseaume (who was again upriver) met flre horse-collecting
part!, and at first took pains to be courteous to Bradbury, inviting
him to a squaw dance. But on the way he reverted to his often un-
pleasant self, deliberately riding through an Indian corn patch over
the protests of both Bradbury and the Squaws working there. "I sus-
pected that he committed this aggression to show his authority or
importance," said Bradbury. 3

Following the council, Hunt and Lisa had resumed speaking to each

I lm nnd llttttt lltut'lt utt A11rr{utt'ttl ,t7,{l

other, anct t-isl weut to holll Crooks nud l)or:k)n; IIunt llogtttt buyirtg
additional horscs fronr thc llccs.

But he was unhâppy. As cach horse wiIS ûcquirccl ancl its ttti l

cropped to mark the sale, Hunt would câst ân ânxiotls oyc on tho

heights along the riverbank, where a bancl of Sioux wtts t:iding btlck

and forth, back and forth.
Was it to be war after all?
The several interpreters explained that if the Sioux roclc siclc by

side as they were doing, it only meant that buflalo wero near, If thcy
began riding crisscross to each other, then it was time to post guards

and get the powder out.
But a Sioux was a Sig;rx to Wilson Price Hunt, and he began buy'

ing dogs for food rather than risk hunting buffalo-a move which
must have amused Charbonneau and his squaws, to say nothing of
Dorion when he returned and heard about it.

The adjustments in package size and distribution of personnel,

necessitated by Hunt's decision to go overland, would have taken
much'longer than they did had not Hunt and Lisa been served by the
greatest collection of interpreters available on the Missouri. Charbon'
neau and Pierre Dorion, Jr., had come all the way from St. Louis;
Hunt had recently hired the mulatto Ed Rose (of whom much more
later) and René Jusseaume; and one or two others were within call,

It is to be regretted that these men were either illiterate or too busy
to set down their versions of the Hunt-Lisa quarrel. But their days
were filled with labor and their nights with sin, and history is the loser.

Prostitution was a thriving business. Bradbury said that about
eighty squaws were on hand and that it was very common for wives
and husbands to put their heads together and discuss the price to be
charged. "The Canadians were very good customers, and Mr. Hunt
was kept in full employ during the evening, in delivering out to them
blue beads and vermillion, the articles in use for this kind of traffÊc."4

The river Indians honored chastity and modesty mostly in thc
breach.

The Arikarâs gave a special prize to any young lady who could
prove virginity at a specified age; but she must claim the prize in
public, and if she lied the man-or men-responsible for her loss must
step forward. Brackenridge witnessed one of these rituals, in which
"the daughter of the interpreter (a Frenchman who had resided with
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the Arikaras upwards of twenty yeals), a beautiful girl of sixteen came
forward, but . . ." a young man stepped out and the ,,young lady . . .
shrunk back confused and abashed, while the . . . crowd was con-
vulsed with laughter."s

On another occasion Bradbury'and Brackenridge hired an old
squaw to ferry them across the river to visit a Mandan village. They
had just shoved away from shore when three young ladies, about
fifteen years of age, arrived and demanded to go along. They had
not been included in the agreed-upon price for ferry service but they
were determined to have their own way. They stripped nude, tossed
their clothes in the boat, and dived into the river and swam and
splashed around the amused Brackenridge and the blushing Bradbury.
They teased and coaxed until the two men got into the game and
decided to teach the girls a lesson. When they reached the opposite
shore, the men refused to give the girls their clothes.

The outcome of the game is not recorded.
But it was not all fun and frolic. One day all business was halted;

a sense of suspense hung over the lodges, and the whites ran half-
fearfully to Dorion to ask what it meant. He said a war party, led by
Grey Eyes, was returning, and the solemn music and the slow tread
of the advancing noncombatants were part of the ceremonies to wel-
come the heroes and honor the dead. Villagers and their horses
marched ten or twelve abreast. each clan to itself. Warriors in full
dress pranced into view with captured scalps fluttering from their war
poles; an old mother greeted her dying son sitting stiffiy astride his
horse and staring ahead into eternity; the aged and infirm rubbed
their shriveled hands across a hero's legs to share the glory; and those
whose sons had not come home slunk off to a nearby hill to grieve
and moan, away from the feasting and dancing which would be held
in the great lodge for the next two days.

These were stirring scenes for Hunt, his guests,, and even the in-
terpreters and voyageurs, who, though they had witnessed them many
times, never really tired of the spectacle.

But the summer was well advanced, and if Astoria were ever to
be founded, Hunt must be about it.

24

DISASTER

" ,  
,811-1814

Jurv 18, 1811: Hunt was ready. Nuttall was staying upriver; Blnck"

enridge and Bradbury were to return to St. Louis aboarcl LiSO'S

keelboat.
The Astorian forces of sixty-four men and eighty-two horsgs wsfg

divided into messes, each with its own equipment. Only the partnoffi'

and later the hunters, rode. And Pierre Dorion, Jr. He laid down the

flat condition that he have a horse to use as he saw fit. This dicl not

imply that the pregnant Marie was to ride. She trudged along on foot

as good squaws were supPosed to do.

Washington Irving has left a classic description of the wilderncss

over which the Astorians were about to pass. And if some of hiS

predictions eventually proved wrong, the travelers were neverthelosS

to find conditions very close to Irving's dismal picture'

Some portions of it along the rivers may partially be subdued by agricul-

ture, others may form vast pastoral tracts, like those of the East; but it iS

to be feared that a great part of it will form a lawless interval between thc

abodes of civilized man, like the Wastes of the oceans or the deserts of

Arabia; and, like them, be subject to the depredations of the maraudcr,

Here may spring up new and mongrel races, like new formations Of

geology, the amalgamation of the "debris" and "abrasions" of formOr

races, civilized and savage; the remains of broken and almost extinguishecl

tribes; the descendants of wandering hunters and trappers; of fugitives

from the Spanish and American frontiers; of adventurers and desperadocs

of every class and country, yearly ejected from the bosom of society into

t h e w i l d e r n e s s . . . .
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Irving was wilring to ac,nit that "some may graduarry becomepastoral hordes, . . . half shepherd, half warrior,'. .:o;; ;thers, ir isto be apprehended, wil become predatory bands, mounted on thefleet steeds of the prairies, with the open prains for their maraudinggrounds, and the mountains for their retreats. . . .,,,
In the beginning of the transmountain journey, Ed Rose was themore important of the two interpreter-guides. His duty was to get theAstorians safely through crow country. But he had a bad reputation,

and it was rumored that he intended to betray Hunt to the crows.
Hunt was in a dither. He was afraid of the indians; he distrusted

both his interpreters; he did not know how to go ahead, and he dared
not turn back. stubbornly trusting his own inialribility, he blundered
along until on the outskirts of trre Brack Hilrs Dorion'ana two com-panions went hunting and faired to return for three days. Hunt setsignal fires. Nothing happened. Justifiabre fear for Dorion was inten_
sified by the belief that it was here that Rose intended to ambush theAstorians. It was arrant nonsense, of course, but fear knows no logic.Thus pressed' Hunt crutched at the absent Dorion as a savior, andshifted his course westward in the hope of making contact with thehunters' shortly thereafter they came into camp. They had got lost,seen none of the signal fires, and recognized nolandmarks.

Even Marie seemed pleased to see È"rr..

. 
Thtl experience pointed up the value of Ed Rose, who was at homehere' But after he led Hunf around the Black Hils, traced out theBig Horn Mountains, and Iocated his own crow camp latain August,Hunt overpaid him,and summarily canceled his contract. This was acostly mistake, for it put all the iesponsibility for interpreiation andguide service on Doriorr, who never pretended to know unyrrring aboutthe lands beyond the Crows.
The overland Astorians were not a confident or happy expedition.Their leader was conscientious and brave but unfitted for his task;the partners squabbred; the crew was generary second best; and thegreatest crow interpreter (with one possibtà exception) had just

been dismissed.
But sometimes an amusing incident lightened the general glçom.Once when John Day- and a- younger boy were hunting, they weresurprised by_a grizzly bear. Day caitioneà the boy ,o .r"unJ rri' andnot shoot. The bear. might go away. Instead it reared, roared, andthreatened. Day whispered, ,.Be quiet, boy! æ l"l"t!,;ïgain tt" 
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grizzly threatcnctl und rguin t)ay snicl no, A thirtl timo tfio bcrrr,
offcred battle, and Day hinrsclf shot an(l killccl it, l lhc'boy, sonrcwhut
confused by the conflict bctween orders an<[ actions, nskod for urr
explanation, and Day laconically replied, "l will not bc bnlliccl,"s

After Ed Rose was discharged, Hunt and Dorion wanclorccl on into
the rnountains. It was the last of August, ancl snow soon blockcd thc
route. Hunt then ordered one of the backtrackings which ovcntunlly
brought disaster to all and death to some.

Rose heard of their present plight, and despite his rcccnt shohby
treatment came to their rescue and set them on a propef trail, It a1l-
parently did not occur to Hunt to rehire the mulatto.

Perhaps only the gagic Vitus Bering or Henry Huclson ûntollg
New World expedition leaders deserves more blame and nrorc synt"
pathy than Wilson Price Hunt. He made one mistake after anothor,
But he was a brave man, and his suffering in the weeks after Rose had
left a second time beggar description. He found a roving bancl gf
Flatheads, but left them to challenge the Wind River; a local guiclo
tho'aght a single range of hills separated Hunt from the headwatcrs
of the columbia when in fact a continental Divide with a thousand
spurs stood in his path; he floundered into sight of the Tetons ancl on
to the Green and Hoback rivers; he got to Jackson Hole but left its
relative safety for Teton Pass and the Snake. He sent Dorion and f)ay
to gxplore the Snake because the voyageurs were weary of horses, dry
land, and sagebrush and longed for their.boats and the toils and porils
they were used to, and Dorion and Day came back saying the Snako
was unnavigable. The partners voted to go to Andrew Henry's okl
post near the modern St. Anthony, Idaho, and arriving there found itt
deserted-and it was October.

But the quiet little river flowing past the empty site, with thc
Tetons shining across the valley on frosty mornings, was too much
for the good sense of the voyageurs and Hunt. They gave their
precious horses to a band of Indians, made canoes, and, leaving
Hoback, Reznor, and Robinson to trap the Henry preserve, ent-
barked in high spirits on October 18.

Within a matter of hours, catastrophe struck: submerged rocks
punched holes in the canoes, and unexpected currents capsized thenr
and scattered everything helter-skelter. valuable sunshine hours werc
lost collecting the goods, drying and repacking them, and repairing
the canoes. The wilds, supposedly alive with game and Indians, werc
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devoid of both. lror 300 rtriles thc cxpcclition encountorecl not ânother
white man. Now and again they spotted a few Indians far to the
right or left, but they were only outlines against the sky. seldom could
Dorion get close enough to be heard. when he could, he did not know
their tongue, and sign language was inadequate for the information
he needed.

Crooks and Antoine Clappine, probably Hunt's most valuable
voyageur, split a canoe end to end, and Clappine drowned. Food was
nearly gone, and Hunt divided his command, sending them in all di-
rections with the admonition to find help or get to the pacific as best
they could. This command, in effect, relinquished Hunt's leadership.

Dorion and his family remained with Hunt.
Extra goods were cached and Hunt fought bravely on, hungry,

wet, essentially lost, and near total despair. In these days of trial, Wil-
son Price Hunt rose above his own attributes and displayed a personal
fortitude worthy of a greater leader.

Some of those he had but recently sent away returned and said the
farther reaches of the Snake were still more wild and unnavigable.
Turbulent water was forcing one portage after another, and Hunt
abandoned his canoes and decided to walk to the mouth of the
columbia-a thousand miles away! Hunt and the Dorions and the
dispirited boatmen, Snow on the hills, frost and cold and hunger. only
forty pounds of corn, twenty of lard, a handful of dry soup, and five
pounds of dried meat per man-a pitiful supply for thirty-six humans
for a thousand miles, But long ago they had reached the point of no
return. Go on or die.

with the Dorions and eighteen men, Hunt started down the north
side of the snake while crooks and the others took the opposite bank.
They hoped that by keeping to the river they would at least always
have water. It was a delusion. It was impossible to follow the river
that closely. Long before the end, the voyageurs resçilted to their own
urine in their agonies of thirst.

In mid-November Dorion heard from a band of harf-starved snakes
that John Reed, leading one of the splinter parties, had passed by.
Hunt bought one emaciated horse and a few days later Dorion bought
another for his family. snow-covered mountains faced ihem. Fafui-ne
was very real, and Hunt killed his horse, and the men declared it
wonderful food. "so should r," said Hunt, "were it not for the attach-
ment I have to the animal."3

Dl,ru,rtar I Hl

Dccembel', tttttl tltlcc feet ol snow, Cfooks ott tltc ollrostto ltunk

was suflering from tlte tost stÂgcs of stot'Vation, ttlcl ll,ttttt wns powol'

less to help.-Maric truclgod along, uncolllplainiug, nn{ thg two littlo

boys stoicâlly accepted it all. With old moccasins ancl atr ooottsitlttul

dog, the paity cheated death. Crooks retracecl his stcps but fottnel

no relief. Hunt panicked and ordered a retreat into thc hoor:t of tlto

Continental Divide in midwinter. Crooks became too wcak tO tl'tlvql,

and Hunt and five others heroically slowed their pace to wfiit on hilll

while the Dorions, their skeleton horse, and the remainder wont Oll'

For he who could not keep up was left behind: this was the univcr:sttl

code. from the Gulf to the Arctic-cruel, pathetic, ancl cleaclly pr:1r:ti'

cal. The majority must"Iot die for the sake of the minority.

Hunt begged Dorion to kill his horse, but Pierre refuscd ând w{lft

unanimously supported by his companions, who argued that clcath

was not yri up* them and the animal could always be killod latcr,

Then, frorn a helpless Indian camp, Hunt seized five hor:ses attd

immediately ,"rrt -"àt to Crooks and his men on the opposite bnnk,

Star,lation irad made them frighteningly wild and ravenous; and Jean

Baptiste Prévost, insane with hunger, lost all control, upset a make-

shift boat, and drowned at the very moment of rescue'

Ice flowed in the Snake. Hunt seesawed first ahead and then behincl

his separate fragments of command. christmas came and went, ancl

theflunt party left the river and headed straight into the mountâins.

Marie's time matured, and Pierre did the unusual, waiting with her:

while the others tramped on, and a new Indian baby joined a tragic

journey.- 
Then: a snow-free valley with friendly Indians and food. New

Year's Eve, 1811, and Pierre and Marie walked quietly into camp,

their two-year-old son proudly riding the family steed. New Year's

Day, and in their buoyancy the voyageurs broke into song and dance,

guÀirn.d with spitted dog and horse. Another day, and the third littlo

borion left his new world with as little fanfare as he had entered it,

Warmer winds and milder skies told of Pacific slopes as one fragment

of the command after the other found the Columbia and straggled to

its mouth, defeated and bankrupt but alive'

And the Dorions walked, too, for Pierre became careless and lost

his horse to thieves.
The failure of the seaborne Astor enterprise under Captain Thorn,

the murder of his crew and the loss of the Tonquin, the rivalries among
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the partners, thc trclvcn{ ul ttrru North wcst Corul)ruly. thç wur erf
1812, and the sale of Astoria lor a I'raction of its worth to thc l.{orth
westers are matters which aflected Pierre Dorion, Jr., only in that he
heard them talked about.

From mid-February of l8l2 until July of 1813, the Dorions re-
ceived little recorded attention at Astoria. Presumably Hunt took
Pierre on his many excursions along the river and into the im-
mediate hinterland, but there is no satisfactory evidence that the
guide went with Hunt to Alaska.

Small parties were dispatched from Astoria on various missions;
reports were dispatched to St. Louis only to be lost to Indian knavery;
trapping and trading units were sent as far east as the Rockies and as
far north as the Okanogans;the Beaver, the second annual ship from
horne, arrived; Robert Stuart, Ramsay Crooks, John Day, and a small
crew started east with dispatches, and Day went insane and was left
with friendly natives to be returned to the Fort, where he died a year
later.

Robert Stuart picked up Hunt's westward trail, got lost, and traveled
a hundred miles down the Snake in the wrong direction before he
came to his senses and rea\ized he was heading toward Astoria and
not St. Louis.a He found Hunt's caches rifled. Then Crooks became
too ill to travel, and Stuart too had to decide for or against leaving a
helpless companion. He wrote: "The sensations excited on this
occasion . . . are not such as arise in the artificial solitude of parks
and gardens . . . For] the phantoms which haunt a desert, are want,
misery, and danger. . . [and] man is made unwillingly acquainted
with his own weakness, and meditation shews him how little he can
sustain, and how little he can perform."s As Hunt had done on the
outward route, stuart refused to leave crooks. But starvation then
became so real that his crew proposed they cast lots that one should
die to save the rest. 

r

My thoughts began to ruyninate on our hopeless and forlorn situation with
the prospects before us untill I at length became so agitated and weak it
was with difficulty I crawled to bed. . . .

This . . . led my revery to a retrospective view of former . . . days, when
difficulties and distresses were only things imaginary, which convinces
rne how little a man who knows . , . neither cares nor sorrows, can feel for
those of others. . . . Let him visit these regions of want and misery . . . and
he will be taught the... advantage of prayer.G

/  lg .+ ;1 , r11 '1 Li; i
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quartcrs ancl lcst thcrn ttt thet Araplho; fountl another shult*r itntl

spent a lonely winter in it; ancl linally delivorecl tlie rlispattcircs ttr

St.  Louis on Apri l  30, t l l13.
In the rneantime, the sale of Astoria to the Nclrth West Corrrptrny

had been decided, and on July 5, 1813,.Iohn Reecl, Ciles LeClerc,
Pierre Delaunay, the Dorions, and others were sent to lhe Snakc
country. Their orders were to find Hoback, Reznor, ancl Rotrinson.
collect as many pelts as possible, and join the remaining Aritor forces
as they were returning to St. Louis after the transf'er of Astoria tet
the North West Company.

Reed intended to center his work on the left bank of the Snakc
but changed his mind and built a small cabin near the mouth of the
Boise River. Dorion and one or two others built another shelter ftlur
or five days'travel farther on.

By late September Hoback and his partners were with Reeci, hul
even this last effort to save some little of the Astor investrnent failecl.
Delâunay, a moody man, left camp one morning and was never seen

Astoria, 1811. U.S. Signal Corps, photo 111-sc-90797, The National Archivt:s.
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Clappinc hml clruwr:ed. thc nclw l)(!r' iotr huhl' hiicl rluittcrl l i l"c |rt.l 'rlre
i t  had a meaning, John Day lrar l  c l iccl  insrulc,  s lulval iorr  hui l  dr ivett
Prévost mad and hc had drownecl hirnscll ' in ir frcney 1"or ftNtcl-- itntl
now only Marie Dorion and her boys wcre lcft o1'thc Rcc<J partv.

Even her Pierre was gone. He woulcl spank hcr net lltclrc, ncrr wnit
while she presented hiin with a son. Not again woulcl his wilcl laughter
carry across the nights, or his prowess as an interpreter buy her blut:
beads.

Helpless to aid the dead and fearing for herseif and hcl' sotls,
Marie turned mutely away from the blood and mutilation ancl started
for the Columbia. In midwinter she forded ttrre Snake, but shc fountl

the Blue Mountains impassable. With a fortitude rarely rnatchecl hy
any New World h-eroine, she killed her horses, made a tent of thcir
hides, gathered fuel, dried their meat, and proceeded to sul'vivc thr:
winter. When spring came she worked laboriously through tl'le mottn-
tains, and arrived at Walla Walla just as the homeward-bound Astor-
ians were moving up the Columbia. She hailed them from shorc on
April 17, and told them the story we have repeated. *

Marie Dorion was as much an adventurer as any man who ever
took a scalp from a writhing enemy. After telling the Astorians eif

the fate of Pierre and his companions, she said good-bye and starteci
for the Gkanogans, 2,000 miles away from her ancestral home. Six
years later she married a trapper, one Venier, of whom nothing is
known. Whether Venier died or deserted her or she left him is un-
recorded, but in 1823 she was living with Jean Baptiste Toupin, atl
interpreter at Walla Walla. Almost twenty years later Toupin and
Marie moved to the Willamette Valley near Salem, Oregon. Advanc-
ing age and the proximity of an organized society induced them tcr
have their twenty-year union, and their two children, legalized.
Baptiste Dorion, grandson of old Pierre Dorion and one of the twcr
little boys who suffered all the way from the Missouri to the Pacific,
and Marguerite Venier were also "acknowledged" by Toupin in the
ceremonies of the Catholic faith, July 19, 1841.7

With all their flouting of the mores of their society, there was a

genuine understanding of human frailties and a willingness to for-

* 'The only record we have of most of these events is Marie's memory. Therc-

fore, the time and place of LeClerc's death and the details of her flight art:

sub jec t  to  human er ro r .

Astoria' renamed Fort George by captain w. Black of the British sloop of war,Raccoon' in 18r3' Rendering 
ri H"'".v i"mes wu..e. The Beinke Rare Bookand Manuscript Library, yale ûniversirr.- 
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again; François Landry fell from his horse and was killed; Jean
Baptiste Turcot died of syphilis, poritery cared (as were several other
diseases) "king's evil" in those stilr-puritan days; then, during the
second week in January, Lecrerc crawred into Dorion's Jrut andgasped out that Pierre and Reznor had been ambushed and killed.
, Marie caught two horses, helped Lecrerc onto one, put herself and
her sons on the other, and dashed for Reed's cabin, dve days away.
sometime during the third day of fear, Lecrerc died of his wounds, *
but there was no time to mourn him or perform even the simpre
Indian rites. The enemy was in sight. Marie and the boys hid and
spext the January mountain night without food or fire, an ordear
yhich would have proved fatal to a resser breed. At daybreak she
hurried to Reed's cabin.

The gruesome remains of a sadistic massacre were strewn about.
Only she and her sons were alive.
The whole Astor enterprise had been a failure. Disaster had piled
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'r Hubert Howe Bancroft.says Lecrere cried at the Dorion cabin (Histor1, olthe Northwest Coa,çt; Vols. XXVù-i"î,' "of 
works, San Francisco, A. L.Bancrofr  Cc "  i  S84.  XXVI l t ,  Z+a id. l , '  :+ in '1."
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give thern among the fronticrsnren, fhcy unclerstood the basic clrives
of men and women, lheir own mates irràtuaeo-and drd not quibbre,

Pierre Dorion, Jr,, was not so stable as George Drouillard; he was
not so picturesque as Toussaint charbonneau; he was neither so
reckless nor so invaluabre as Ed Rose. But he was a worthy member
of the select fraternity of interpreter-guides. He easily ,unl, uo,oog
the- d_ozen most important on the Missouri. He was btrn a riverman
and died a mountain man, and by that transition symborized the shift
of emphasis from the Missouri to the continental Divide.

BAPTISTE DORION

18 3 4-18 1,9

Be,pusrE DonroN and an uncertain number /f half-brothers rrnd
half-sisters rounded out a third generation of qhe Dorion farnily, But
compared with his father and grandfather,,,4apiste was a colorlcss
and indistinct figure flitting across the logfages of the Colurnbia, Hs
,r/as never associated with a reaily grelt cause or even a pathctic
failure. He lived during the excitingf years when Hudson's llay
Cçppany men, missionaries, settlerfl and government agents bttilt
the "Oregon question" into an ifiternational crisis, but Baptisto
played no decisive role; and excoft for the Whitman massacre, thg
years themselves were generally.,'safe and prosaic, reflecting politicnl
footwork more than frontier hgfoics.

For years Baptiste DoriorT'and Thomas McKay, half-breed sotr
of Mrs. Mcloughlin, wife pf. Dr. John Mcloughlin, were tho two
most important half-breed/ attached to the Hudson's Bay Compnny
on the Columbia. r But the doctor, the Company's chief factor at
Vancouver, wrote of evodrts, not interpreters, and his many associates
were equally remiss. i'

From early life unt{l his death, Baptiste was surrounded with rival
traders in the Oka4ôgan, on the Columbia, Cowlitz, Spokane, ancl
Willamette rivers; yith missionaries of conflicting and intolerant fâiths
at Waiilatpu, Lafwai, Salem, and The Dalles and in the Cowlitz
Valley; and witf an ever-increasing flow of settlers-God-fearing,
ruthless, sinful".''peaceful, and quarrelsome. All his life he was subjocl:
to the cross-pulls of divergent faiths, commercial interests, and politi.
cal entities. Life for him was much more complicated than for his
grandfather, old Pierre, squatting among his squaws on the Missouli,
or even for his half-breed father. Pierre. Jr.. who mastered his craft
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